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DESCRIPTION

Located at 27- 35 Crescent Street, thie Astoria Center of Israel is on the east side of the street. between Newtown

and 30% Avenues in the Astoria neighborhood of the borough of Queens in New York City. The boundaries of

_ the property, are described as Queens Tax Block 574, Lot 42. The building is flanked by a modern medical -
center on the south and on the north by single-family homes built at the turn-of-the-twentieth century with small

apartment houses across the street. The Astoria Center was Built in 1925-26 to designs by architect Louis Allen N

Abramson. The synagogue is also known for its interior. decoration of a series of murals by French artist Louis .
Rigal commissioned by the congregation in 1929. Today, the Astoria Center of Israel is an earty surviving:
-Queens Synagogue and religious center and continues to function as such. - Its design is typical of 19203
Amerlcan synagogues, combining classical detaﬂmg with Juda1c symbols.’

. Exterior

The synagogue is a two-story building faced in Flemish-bond striated red brick with faux limestone cast-stone
trim and a masonry foundation. Its facade is designed as a modified temple front with-six double-height flat’
Tonic piers that support an architrave in which the frieze is inscribed with the synagogue’s name, “Astoria-

Center-Of-Israel.” Over this is a balustrade of short stone pilasters interspersed with wm shaped stone balusters. - '

The exterior of the building is divided into five bays by the piers with the center bay being the building’s
principal entrance. At the first story, the center bay has a round-arched cast-stone entryway, approached by
several gray granite steps. The wooden double doeors are recessed and are topped by a Junetle with a simple
magen david in its center. Bach doer has 2 series of four square panels, thiee of which are adorned with Jewish
symbols, e.g. a menorah, a Kiddush cup,.and a pair of hands making the blessing of the kohanim. The door
frame is flanked on cither side by a simple metal light fixture. Over the door frame is an ornamental cartouche
“ with a scroll extending on either side. Within the cartouche is a magen david. Each of the two bays on either.
side has one round-arched window with leaded glass adorned with multi-colored geometric patterns. Each
~ window has a magen david in the upper sash. A comerstone at the south end is inscribed “1925 ~ 5686 —
"Astoria Center of Israel.” At the second story, each bay is occupied by a tripartite. window.

Interior . -

'The main entrance leads to an entrance vestibule that is.a small space with a groin-vaulted plaster ceiling. In the -
center hangs an ornamental metal light fixture. Three of the vestibule sides are round-arched: theentrance, and:

the walls to either side of it on the south and north. The south wall (to the right as one enters from the st1eet)

" has & large plaque with a new light fixture above it.- The north wall is plain except for a radiator grille at the

- base. The vestibule leads directly into the lobby that is an elongated octagonal space from which all other first
floor interjor spaces are reached., On the western side, a doorway south of the entrance vestibule leads into an

~ administrative office, which in turn leads into the rabbi’s office. Both of these have largely been redecorated. L
The doorway north of the entrance vestibule lgads to another office, also redecorated, which i in turn leads into a
small chapel On the eastern side of the lobby, opposite the entrance vestibule is the entrance to the main
sanctuary. To its right and left are other doorways, one leading to the balcony; the other to a staircase to the
hasement. The north side of the lobby has a recessed sitting area flanked by flat piers with elaborate capitals.
Instead of & recessed area on the south side is an entrance to a small room used as a coat closet, beyond whiich is

! Apparently in the 1960s, according to synagogue staff.
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. another office area. The coved lobby ceiling is adorned with an elaborate pmn’ung by Louis Ri gal Tts -
symmetrical design is based on spiral forms sprouting lealy branches. A chandelier hangs from its center.

On the north side of the building is a narrow rectangular space used as a chapel. It is lit by leaded glass

windows similar to those on the front fagade in the building’s north elevation. The style suggests English Tudor:
influence evidenced by a beamed ceiling, plaster walls and a paneled wooden ark (receptacle for the Torah
scrolls). The ark’s two doors are each adorned with the silhouette of a lion, one sitting above a magen david -
over which is superimposed a menorah. The other is sitting above a magen david over which is superimposed_
the image of two hands making the blessing of the Kohanim. A broken pediment atop the ark éncloses the two
tablets of the Law. The wall behind the ark is also paneled. Two small ornamental metal chandeliers hanging
from the ceiling are adormed with grape clusters and magen david forms. The entrance doors include narrow

. leaded glass windows each with a roundel. One of the roundels shows a menorah, the othel a Torah scr oll

Main sanctuary-

!

The main sanctuary is a large, two story tall, roughly } squareuloom with a rear balcony, plaster walls and an
~ elaborate plaster beamed ceiling. The main sanctuary has three tall, almost floor-to- ce111ng leaded glass

- windows on eJther side of the ark in a front area, recessed behind what in a theater would be called a ‘
proscenium arch. The focal point of the recess i$ an elaborate ark that is set.against a tripartite-Palladian-style -
window. Three windows on either side of the sanctuary are filled with ornamental polychromatle leaded glass.
Each window is set within a round arch and fianked on either side by a fluted pilaster rising to an omate capital-
- that appears to support the ceiling. Each window features a magen david inscribed within a circle in its

. uppermost part and small rectangular memorial panels below. The rest of the glass is set in geometric shapes.

At the rear of the sanctiary, the balcony is flanked by enclosed areas containing staircases. The walls of these
areas facing into the sanctuary each include an ornamental arch with omament painted by R1gal that mimics the
round-arched windows on the adjoining side walls. Each of these painted arches encloses a Hebrew inscription
above a large memorial plaque Plaques and inscriptions appear to be later additions. The walls of these areas
meet the balcony rail in.a pier rising to an ornamental capital. The balcony rail is adorned with a R1 gal pamtmg ‘
combmmg styhzed olive clusters and b1 anches W1th a centrally placed menorah. : i

At the front of the sanctuary, plain wall surfaces are on either side each with a doorway and two narrow arched
windows above that flank the central progcenium arch leading to the ark. These plain wall surfaces mirror the

" opposite enclosed stairwells flanking the rear balcony. The proscenium arch itself is adorned with the'most
‘elaborate of the Rigal paintings. On the north side (on the left facing the wall}, the painting depicts a lion and a
deer rearing up on their hind legs and facing-each other. The south (right) side depicts a leopard and an eagle in
a similar position. Below each set of figures is a painted base with olive clusters and branches surrounding a
stylized magen david. Above each set of figures, a stylized pattern of branches and olives rises on either side
meet at the apex of the arch in the figure of.a dove. The area behind the arch has a wall on either side, also
covered with an ornamental painting. The redr wall is largely taken up by a large Palladian-style window =
arrangement of one Jarge round-arched window in the center flanked by a shorter, narrower arched window on -
either side. The band fr amlng the tnple -arched windows is painted with decorative forms. -

The ark itself is an aedicular form in scaglzola (faux marble). A pair of pﬂastels on either side supports an
entablature with and a frieze that has panels inscribed with a magen david. Over this rises an elaborate broken
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pediment. Between the scrolled ends sits a representation of the tablets of the Law, mscubed with the Hebl ew
words representing the Ten Commandments. The leaded glass windows behind it include a representation of
the same tablets. The metal doors of Lhe Ark are inscribed with various Jewish symbols. In front of the Atk to -
cither side are two bronze lamp stands in the shape of a menorah. There is also an ormamental wooden pulpit
that along with the wooden pews in the sanctuary was added in 1940.% In the ceiling above the ark is an

ornamental mctal gulle admitting daylight.

The sanctuary’s-ceiling is divided iﬁto fifteen enormous square panels with Rigal ‘painti'ngs‘ of repeating designs.
Some of the panels are relatively plain, with a border of geometric patterns and curlicues and a strnilar pattern -
decorates a band that runs along the rear walls just where it meets the ceiling. Other bands have elaborate
symmetrical patterns based on floral forms and still others repeat the paired figures of lion/deer and
Ieopard/eagle heua forming an “X™ with interstices filled with olive branches.

Remammg interior spaces include clasm ooms on the second floor that are located at the west end of the
‘building, above the lobby off of a narrow hallway. On the opposite side of the hallway, a short corridor leads
into the rear of the balcony in the sanctuary. A social hall in the basement is a large space located directly below
the main sanctuary. It is reached via a staircase from the lobby. It ceiling is supported by columns. The social
hall has been s1 gn1f1cant1y altered with little remaining of its ongmal design.” : :

In general, the Astoria Center of Israel retains-a high degree of integrity of locatmn demgn, setting, materials,
workmanship, feeling and association. It has been continuously maintained as a synagogue since its
construction in.1925-26. Alterations primarily affect niinor spacés such as offices and classrooms. The main
facade, main sanctuary, entrance vestibule, lobby and chapel all survive largely intact. ‘

? They are so identified by 2 plague which reads: “pulpit and pews presented by Mr. and Mrs. Bernard D. Klein, 1940.”
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‘8. Significance

Applicable National Heg|ster Criteria _
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes jor the criteria qualzfyzng the property
for Naticnal Register listing.) ’

B A Propetty is aseoorated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad paiterns of
. our history. '

71 B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.
X C Property emboedies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or
. represents the work of a master, or possesses:
high artistic values, or represents a significant and

distinguishable entity whose components lack
mdiwdual dtstsnct;on ‘

Ob Property has ylelded orls likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Consliderations
(Mark "x" in all the boxes’that apply.) -

‘ P_roperty is:

[ A ownad by a religious institution or uged for
refigious purposes.

1 B remo'\r_ed fro'm_ite_ original location.

Qe ai hi'rthp]a'oe or grave.

‘ -.I:I D a cemetery. |

FfEa recons.truoted‘buiiding, object, or structure.
FiFa commemorative property. |

TG less than 50 years of age or achieved significahoe
within the past 50 years.

" Narrative Statement of Slgmflcance

-{Explaln the significance of the property on ane or more cohtinuation sheets. )

Areas of Significance

" (enter categeries from instructions)

Redigion .

Ethnic Heritage: Jewish

Architecture

Period of Significance
1925-26°

" Significant Dates

1925

Significant Persons _
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation

N/A

" Architect/Builder

Louis Allen-Abramson
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE The Astoria Center of Israel is h1st01 ically s1gmf1cant under Criterion A

in the areas of ethnic history and religion as one of the few early-twentieth century synagogues surviving in the '

New Yorlk City borough of Queens. It is also architecturally significant under Criterion.C and Criterion
Consideration A as an example of an intact 1920s Neo-Classical Rewva] style synagogue in the borough of
Queens that still serves the local commumty :

Criterions A: Constructed in 1925 26, the Astoria Center of Israel was ori iginally intended to serve as a

. religious school and community center for the formerly adjoining synagogue, Congregation Mishkan Israel.
From the beginning however, some religious services were held in the building and within a few years the

Astoria Center had become a separate synagogue. The Center’s name and its incorporation of school and

social uses from its inception link it to the “Jewish Center™ movement that reached its apogee in the decade

in wh1ch the Ast011'1 Center was-created.

Crlterlon C and Criterion Consideration A: The Astoua Center of Israe! is a high-style design by
architect Louis Allen Abramson, considered one of the. chief architects of the Jewish Center movement. It is

- also unusual for its program of murals on Biblical and Talmudic themes added in 1929 by French artist Louis

Rigal and its decorative metalwork by prominent metal craftsman Oscar Bach. Although Queens today is
home to a sizable Jewish population with hundreds of synagogues large and small, the Astoria Center of

Istael is otie of the oldest, surviving from a time when the Jewish population of Queens itself was quite
small. Today the Center survives as a distinctive architectural, cultural and rehglous landmark of the Jewish

community of New York City.

HISTORICAL CONTEXT
: The Development of Astoria and ItsJ ew1sh Populatlon

Today’s Astoria is COHSldB] ed to be the portion of Long Island Clty sﬂuated in the northwest part of Queens,
roughly between the Queensboro Bridge and Astoria Boulevard west of LaGuardia Airport. It was ori iginaily
part of the early town of Newtown that with Flushing and Tamaica was one of the three colonial seitlements
now comprising the borough of Queens. As described by one author, “For a long time Newtown was the
~stepchild of the metropohtan area, its backyard, so to speak. - Whatever was too offensive for the rest of the area
found lodgment there, and the odors from some of its works often aroused indignant protests even from .
dwellers on Manhattan. "2 The areas along the waterfront, however, developed as residential areas of Newtown
such as ... Ravenswood [that] had invited a colony of home builders of the better class, Hunter’s Point has
boomed f01 many years as a su1table site for the homes of Manhattan worklnglnen but the lots failed to
command anything hke auractlve prices ou131de of Astoma "3, A '

! For general information on Astoria, see Benjamin Thompson, Hrszm'y of Long Island from its Discover Y and Sem’emem to the
Present Time (1918, reprint, Pthashmgton NY 1962), 538 ff, and “Astoria,” by Vincent Seyfucd in the Encydopr.c[m of New
Yo:k City. ‘ _

? History of Long Island..., 569-570. .

¥ Ibid.
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Beginning in the 1830s, Stephen Halsey, a fur merchant, began developing the area that incorpore qied asa
village in 1839,*“._.and at that time its name was changed from Hallett’s Cove. Thé name originally proposed
was the old Indaan one of Sunswick, still kept alive in the name of a creek, but one of the men prominent in the
matter of the incorporation, Mr. Stephen A. Halsey, suggested that if it were named in honor of John Jacob
. Astor he might pay for the foundation of a female seminary which was to be one of the features of the new
-village. ... But MI Astor....threw cold water on the matter by saying there was already a city named Astoria-and co
one was enough.” * Never Lheless the name was changed and eventually Astor made a modest contribution to

'the seminary.

t

Astoria developed both remdentlal areas and industry. -Several early mansions were built along 12th and 14th
Streets by well-to-do New Yorkers, while the German United Cabinet Workers bought up farmlands and -
created a German-American enclave. In 1869 William Steinway bought a large tract of land for his piano
,manufactunn g busmeSS and developed a small area of worker’s housing for his employees. In 1870, .
..[Newtown’s] most densely populated corner, including Astoria, Ravenswoad, Hunter’s Point, was
conoent1 ated into one municipality and elevated into the dignity of a city [Long Island City]... Astorla ‘which
became the Fourth Ward of the city, was Jong the most populous and most p0pu1ar village within it.” '

Wlth the COIlSOlldBIlDTl of Greater New York in 1898; Astona became part of the new Borough of Queens The
1890s and early 1900s saw a greal increase in. ‘home- building. Perhaps the biggest impetus to the growth of . .
Astoria in patticular and Queens in general was the opening in 1909 of the Queensboro Bridge, atthe - - -
southwestern cornet of Astorig, connecting Queens with midtown Manhattan. The bridge was soon followed by
the extension of the IRT subway into the borough during the late 1910s. Over the next two decades, the
population of Queens mushroomed by 750%.” The boom continued well into the 1920s.® The 1920s and 1930s
saw deve]opment of apartment buﬂdmgs and housmg pmJeets in Astoria spec1f1cally as well as'Queens in- ‘

- general.

* Throughout the twentieth century, Astoria’s population was generally multi-ethnic, with large populations of
Italian- and Greek-Americans, but also smaller groups with origins in other countries. The Jewish population -
of Astoria began to grow significantly in the years following the First World War. The Jewish population of

Astoria was part of the much larger J ewish populat:lon of New. York City. Following a major wave of
immigration from Eastern Europe, New York City becamie home to‘an enormous Eastern European Jewish-
immigrant community beginning in the 1880s and reaching its peak in the early decades of the twentieth
century. From about 1880 up until Woﬂd ‘War I, some two million Jews (roughly one third of all the Jews in
Eumpe_) arllved in the United States.” The vast majority f11 st settled in New York City where they created an

1 Jeffrey A. Kroessler, Building Queens: The Urbamzatwn of New Yo;k 's Largest Bomugh (PhD dlsserLauOﬂ City University of New

York, 1991),p. 23, .
2 HLSFOi'y of Long Island..., 569-570.
S Ihid. :

* T Kroessler, pp. iv, 333. : .
- 3 Kroessler, p. 378: “The economic boom of the 1920s...was, nowhere more evident than in Queens, and like the rest of Lhe boom, the

rea) estate explosion in Queens was built on credit. The result was an extraordinary period of construction. In the five years between
. 1924 and 1929, the city 1ssued 73, 656 peumts for 1- and 2-family homes in Queens providing housing for 93,000 families, or an
estimated 400,000 persons.”

? Moses Rlschm, The Promised Land: New Yark s Jews, 1870-19]14 (New York, 1970), p- 20,
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enormous Yiddish-speaking community, In this city within a city, J ew1sh immigr ants were able to find
osher food, Yiddish-language newspapers and mutual aid societies. Major Jewish 11nm1g1at10n to the Lower
East Side stopped in 1924 with the passage of new immigration laws.

Though the city’s Jew1sh popuhtmn Wwas enormous, the pr e-World War I Jewish population of Queens was
quite smatl. In 1913 (not quite a decade before the founding of the Astoria Center of Isr ael), New York City’s
Jewish population was estimated at 1,330,000. Of that number, only 23,000 lived in Queens. ** Synagogues
played a major role’in the Jife of New York’s Jewish population. New York’s 1918 Jewish populatmn

_estimated at between 1 and 1.5 million, was served by 700 synagogues: In that year, West Queens had just one
synagogue, in one building, while East Queens (east of Flushing Avenue) had eighteen synagogues, only five of
which had their own bulldmgs Following the War’s end, the Jewish populat1on began to grow, and the
constructlon of synagocues followed.

The Astoria Center of Israel

The Astoria Center of Israel began as a proposal, from members of a local synagogue, ‘Congregation Mishkan
Tsrael {(founded in the 1880s, cornerstone laid in 1906), for a Talmud Torah (Jewish réligious school).. The idea
first took shape in 1921 when “Jewish families in large numbers were beginning to move into Astoria, arid Mr.

Meyer Weisberg, the president of the Mishkan Israel Congregatmn saw the necessity for providing better
facilities for teaching Jewish children the religion of their fathers. ! Weisberg’s untimely death delayed the
project, but eventually the Astoria Talmud Torah Association was organized, on J anuary 24, 1925, “for the
purpose of building a Talmud Torah in Astoria.” The association’s first task was ...to interview every Jewish
~ resident in Astoria and to obtain as many members as possible, which will serve as a test in the interest of the .
.. people in our community towards the need of a Talmud Torah.” "2 The building was estimated to cost
. “approximately $100, 000.00.” Though initially planned as a school, the association understood from the
begmnmg that the building will of course be adaptable to incidental community uses, such as meeting halls,
synagogue for Holy Days, etc. »13 The association’s initial assumption was that “the objective of our building is,
primarily, a Hebrew Schoal. »14. The student population was to be largely the children of members of the-
_ Mishkan Israel congregation. A site wag acquired directly next door to Mishkan Israel. (The original address of
the Astoria Center was 820 Crescent Street, and of Mishkan Israel 826 Crescent Street). Before the year was
~ out, the congr egation had hlred architect Louis Allen Abramson to design the new building.”®

‘Initially, the association thought about “amalgamation” with the Long Island City Jewish Center,'% a sirnilai-
- organization, but when that plan fell through another emerged for amalgamation with the neighboring
congregation of Mishkan Israel with the reason being that, “It was the unanimous consensus of the Board of
Trustees that such an amalgamation : should take place in order to eliminate friction, waste of money and energy

I The Jewish Communal Register of New York szy 1917-1918 (New York: Kehillah [Jewish Community], 1918), p. 86
" “Qur Beginnings — A Historicai Retrospective,” 7. 75" Anniversary Jowrnal, Astoria Center of Tsrael.
- 12 Minutes of the Astoria Talmud Torah Assocation, Jarmary 24", 1925; copy locateci in the office of the AsLona Cemer of Israel
* Minutes of the Astoria Talmud Torah Association, January 31, 1925.
' Minutes of the Astoria Talmud Torah Association, March 28", 1925.
'3 Minutes of the Astoria Talmud Torah Assciciation, December 31, 1925.
' Minutes of the Astoria Talmud Torah Association, March 12fh, 1925
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and for the purpose of strengthening and solidifying the Jewish commumty in Astoria.”"’ The Center 8
comersione was-aid in November of 1925, and the dedication took place in March-of 1926."* In the very first
~years of the Center’s existence, the two neighboring institutions, the Astoria Center and Mishkan Israel, did co-
exist and “Religious services were conducted at both places for a few years..... A number of congregants
belonged to-both synagogues. But despite this sentimental affection between these two increasingly separate
organizations, by the time of that January 1927 meeting, there was no doubt that the Astoria Center of Israe] had:
already emerged as the dynamic new source of Jewish life in Westem Queens. By sometime in 1928 [prayer
services] had all started to be conducted at the Center.”"?

Theological diff’el_'ences may have pla‘yed arole in the separation of the two institutions. Mishkan Israel
remained a traditionally Orthodox congregation. By contrast the Astoria Center’s first rabbi was educated at the
Jewish Institute for Religion, a Reform seminary founded by Rabbi Stephen S. Wise, leader of the “Free
Synagogue” movement that sponsored many changes unacceptable to Orthedox congregations. One of the
speakers at the Center’s comelstone-laymg ceremony was the rabbi of Manhattan’s Temple Emanu -El, the
city’s preeminent Reform congregatlon O The Center eventually affiliated with the Conservative movement, to
which it belongs today. Congregation Mishkan Israel’s building was destroyed by fire in 1981. By that time, the
-older congregatmn had shnmk 10 65 members and no longer employad a rabbl :

~ Though the Astoria Center of Israel funcuoned as a synagogue for almost its entire ex1stence from the

. beginning it also served broader goals. The synagogue’s “President’s Message” in its first year of operation
expressed the purpose of the Center, citing the High Holiday religious services held in the building, and the

school serving 150 children. The message also hi ghhghted a variety of community uses: :

Children have found a home in the Center for their social activities. The Center offers a clean
Jewish environment and exercises a wholesome influence through its several clubs, such as.the .
- Boy Scout Troop, Young Judaean Club, Young Folks’ League, Girls’ Club, and others... We are
* not building upon narrow and limited foundations. We strive to be broad and encompass the
various phases of Jewish life and activities. If we work together, this Astoria Center of Israel,
will yet prove to be a model Jewish institution for other communities to imitate.

The name, “Astoria Center of Israel,” was spec1flcally chosen for the purpose of permlttmg a wider scope-of
activities and encouraging the various ages and elements of the Community. The Center’s original conceptlon
as a Hebrew school with facilities for other uses, to serve as an adjunct to the adjoining Mishkan Israel -
synagogue and its very name, “Astoria Center,” linked it to the “Jewish Centel” movement that was reaching its
apogee in the yeals the CenteI was constr ucted :

i

7 Minutes of the Astoria Talmud Torah Association, October 5%, 1926.

¥ mirst Anniversary booklet “History of the Center,” by Irving M. Hoffberg,
P eOur Beginnings.-. _

 New York Times, November 23, 1925, p.24.
2 “Blage Destroys a Synagogue.” New York Times, March 18, 1981 P B4

% First Ariniversary booklet, “President’s Message,” Isaac Baer.
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New York Synagogues and the “J ewish Centel” Phenomenon

The history of New York symgogues extends back to the.construction in 17’)9 of the ori Umal “Shearith Ismel” 2
or Mill Street synagogue (no longer extant}. In the intervening three centuries, synagogue architécture has gone
through many forms as ‘evidenced by surviving New York synagogues that included a number of distinct types,

' ranging from “stieblach,” (store-front synagogues) and vernacular “tenement synagogues” of long narrow
structures suited to the 100x20 foot lots typical of the Lower East Side (e.g. the Stanton -Street Shul, NR listed -
in 2002) to the grand, high-style “cathedral” synagogues (e.g. the Central Synagogue, NR listed in 1970). The
twentieth century saw the devclopment of a new, particularly American synagogue type known as the Jewish N
Ceriter that in addition to being a place of worship, served as a center of community life. Besides a sanctuary, it
included classrooms, social halls and In the largest bu1ld1n gs, even gyms and swrmmmg pools

The development of the Jewish Center was been carefully chromcled by historian David Kaufman who traced

" the origin of the phenomenon to sever aI sources that included the millennia-old tradition of the synagogue as a
place of worship, study and assembly.” Other influences were the nineteenth century Protestant development
of the “institutional church® and the social requirements of newly-developed communities of middle-class
assimilated first- and second-generation Jewish families. One specifi¢ example of the form was the West Side

" Jewish Center built in 1917 on Manhattan’s West 86™ Street by the influential Rabbi Mordecai Kaplan. Kaplan
has often been cited as the originator of the Jewish Center, but Kaufman argued that many of the necessary
conditions were already in place, and that “Kaplan was simply the right man at the right tiine, glvmg audible
voice to less 1mmed1ately observable — but’ far more pervasive — historical processes. 24

Nevertheless Kaplan s Jewish Center exemphﬁed the type as it developed in the years following World War I
and was without question an influential model for similar Jewish Centers constructed around the city in the.
following decades. As described by Kaufman, “The new institution would be neither a synagogue nor a Jewish
school, nor a social club like the YMHA, but rather, a combination of all three.The idea was one of unification
and simplification, meant to harmonize dissonant elements in the cacophonic milieun of the contemporary Jewish
community; as formulated by Kap]'m it becamie the germination of the synagogue-center movement Kaplan
desenbed his conception of the Jew1sh Center in 1918: : '

: We state frankly that we are establishing the Jewish Center for the purpose of deriving from it for ‘
~ ourselves pleasures of a social, intellectual, and spiritual character... The Jewish Center will be
dominated by a purpose of far-reaching si ignificance, if we, who are about to establish it, will do so
_ with the deliberate and conscious ajm of conducting it as an experiment to help us solve the
-problem of Jewish life and religion.. 2% The elements which are indispensable to health in human_
~ life are four in number: atmosphere, 11 ght, food and exerc1se Provide Jewish life with these
" constituents, and you wﬂ] solve the problem of Judaism.*’ o ‘ S : o

B David Kmfman Shul with a Pool: The “Synagogue Cemer in Ame} ican Jewish Histor ¥ (andels University Press, 1999), .
M 1hid, p.7. _ , . . S
2 Ihid, pp. 232-233. A o L - |
26 Ibid, p. 238. : - S , ‘
* Tbid, 239.
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Kaplan saw the Jewish Center as meeting four different 1evels of need dl'ld described by Kaufman as:

atmosphew ” or a Jewish environment; “Iiﬁht ” interpreted as “entertainment and joy-giving
1:301eat10ns” the “food” of Jewish knowledge; and ° ‘exercise,” understood as the opportunity for
practical action. In other words, the Kaplanian synagogue- ~center is intended to provide a spatial
context for J ewishness, a recreational center, an institute for Jewish education (for all ages), and a
headquartms for social and political activism.. Created a$ a congregational entity and intended to
" revolve around a synagogal hub, the West Side Jewish Center was a synaﬂogue center and, as such,
_became the prototype for a new movement n Amerlcan J ew1sh hfe '

The building erected in 1917 on West 86" Straet was unhke any prior synagogue. As described in 1917 the -
eleven-story building was planned to include “...a spacious lobby and auditorium on the first floor with coat
rooms and lavatories on the second floor. The synago gue extends through the third and fourth floors with the
exception of the front of the building, where the fourth floor space is to be used as alibrary, room for trustees,
and gallery. The additional stories that will be.erected at some future time will contain the following: Fifth 'md

- sixth floors, gymmnasium and exercise rooms; seventh and eighith floors, natatorium and baths, including steam

~ and hot rooms, showers, &c. and sleeping rooms; ninth floor, class and club rooms. fo1 junior; tenth floor; club
" rooms and banquet hall with necessary kitchen and pantries. 29

Kaplan 8 West Side Jewish Center was followed by a number of major s such complexes in Brooklyn mcluc‘hng
first and most famous, the Brooklyn Jewish Center built in the 1920s and 1930s, a major example of the type -
that continued being built into the 1940s and 1950s.The Astoria Center of Istael was smaller building than any
of these and lacked a gymnasium and a swimming pool. Nevertheless, its name linked it to this phenomenon
along.with its goals of “social activities,” origins as a school, and as community building with a synagogue
space, It was also linked by its design through the architect, Louis Allen Abramson who d1d ofa number of the

~ best known Jewish Center buﬂdmgs Y : A ‘ X

Louis Allen Abramson 30

Louis Allen Ablamson (1887- 1985) had a Iong archItectural career stretching from the tum-of- the—twenheth

~ century through the late 1960s. Abramson began as an office boy and then a draftsman in the office of John
Duncan where he helped design several neo-French Classic townhouses in midtown Manhattan. Leaving
Duncan's office, he traveled 1o the west coast, working in and around Seattle for several years. Returning to

- New York, he established an independent architectural practice. Abramson was known for the design of
hospitals, nursing homes and restaurants. His restaurants included Hom & Hardart Automats on-West 33" and

West 181st Streets, six Longchamps restaurants in Manhattan restaurants for the Brass Rail including the

# Kavfman explams that Kaplan s type of “Jewish Center” must be cons1deled separalely from a contemporaneous seculzu
msmuuon also known as a “Jewmh Center,” ?p. 240.

. ¥ “Jawish Social Centre,” New York Times, March 10, 1918 p-RELZ.
30 Information about Abramson is based in part on a personal mtcrvn:w conductéd by the author of this nommauon in the late 1970s,

.as well as other sources cited below individuatfy.
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outlets for the 1939 World's Fair and. Ben Ma1 den’s Riviera ni Uht club/restaurant perched on the Palisades. .

* These restaurants were elegant Art Deco and Art Modemne creations designed in the 1930s and 1940s.

A great deal of Abramson’s work was done for Jewish comiunal enterprises, including hospitals, senior
centers, youth centers, and synagogues. His work prior to the 1930s tended to the Neo-Classical or Neo-
Renaissance. Abramson greatly admued McKim, Mead & White’s work, to which Duncan had introduced him.
Abramson stated that he had great “...admiration of what they had done. And that never left me, never. Each’
time I’d go by the University C]ub on Fifth Avenue, Id stand and figuratively bow, I did love that building.
When they started to destroy the Penn Station I used to go over there and cry. To me it was perfection,
perfection.... Penn Station was... I don’t know how I can really say it. I felt meek in the presence of that
building...Irecall once, and I don’t know if you will recall it, as you walk in from the Seventh Avenue 51de
where the bronze letters, tablets on e1the1 sn:le ~the spacmg of the letters themselves impressed me. It was done

as a rnaster would doit.”

Abramson’s first mdependent work was the Young Women’s Hebrew Association (YWHA) on -Central Park
North, just west of Fifth Avenue, built 1912-14. Before becoming its architect, Abramson functioned as its
“caimpaign manager,” organizing what became a huge fundraising operation supported by much of the
organized Jewish community. The progress of the fundraisin g campaign was chromcled in a dozen articles in
the Times. According to the New York Times, Abramson was “one of the most active workers in the cause. »32
Some of the most famous namés in New York finance and business contributed funds: financiers Jacob H.
Schiff> and Felix Warburg; theatrical impresario Abraham Erlanger (of the Klaw & Erlanger orgamzatlon) as
well ag members of the -Guggenheim and Loeb families, and lawyer Lous Marshall, a major Jewish communal

- fi gme * Prominent rabbis spoke on behalf of the project, including Dr. Stephen S. Wise of the Free '
* Synagogue, Dr. Judah Magrzes,35 and Rabbi David De Sola Poole of Shearith Israel, 3 a5 well as Dr. J oseph

Silverman, rabbi of Témple Emanu-El.

On completion of the building’s construction, ‘the YWHA contained “...dormitories, clubrooms, classrooms,
where cooking, stenography, dressmaking, and hat trimming will be taught areading room and library,
gymnasium and swimming poo), social parlors for the girl residents, and a synagogue on the ground floor”. T In
short, Abramson’s first major building included all the functions of a typical Jewish Center, Years later, in =
reminiscing about the building, Abramson descubed its demgn “The auditorium was Stanford White’s Itahan

That was the influence. 38

Abramson went on to design many Jewish communal institutions. In 1915, he designed the Neo-Renaissance |
Home of the Daughters of Jacob, a senior center in the Bronx, as well as buildings for Beth Israel hospital,
United Israel Zion Hospital in Brooldyn, a Jewish Maternity Hospital on East Broadway and the Long Island

3 Interview by the author of th:s nomination; reprinted in “New York from Classic to Modeme L(}C’l] Architects Remember a Ch"lptel in
Everyday Masterpieces (Princeton Architectural Press, 1988), pp 211 T, -
32 “Debutantes to Help raise $200, 000 Fund,” New York Times, April 5, 1912, p.7.
33 wy W H.A. Fund Haif Won,” New York Times, April 27, 1912, p.14. '
¥ “Dedicate $350,000 Home of Y. W.H A.,” New York Times, November 23, (914, p. 1.
© 35 wNew Start for Y.W.H.A.,” New York Times, April 24,1912, p.24.
36 “Debutantes to Help raise $200,000 Fund,” New York Times, April 5, 1912, p.7.
3 “Dedicate $350,000 Home of Y. W.H.A.,” New York Times, November 23, 1914, p.11.
2 Interview by the author, op. cit. -




- United States Department of the Interlor . : Co OMB No. 1024-0018, NPS Form.
Mational Park Service . : ‘ ’ , . '
S Astoria Center of israel
Queens County, New York -
NATIONAL REG!STEH OF HISTORIC PLACES :
CONT!NUATIDN SHEET

Seotlon number 8 Page 8

Jewish Hospital. His work extended to public hospitals as well, notﬂbly the Bronx Hosp1t‘11 (1919) near Crotona
Park, In 1917, Abramson won the commission for Mordecai Kaplan’s West Side Jewish Center. qulan had .
 been aware of Abramson’s work at the YWHA, a similar building type ? Thus began Abramson’s career as
what Kaufman, the chronicler of the Jéwish Center movement, calls “a lefldmg architect of the synagogue— '
center bu1ldmg boom 40

Kaplan’s commission was followed by the Blook]yn Jewish Center of 1919 a direct offshoot of Kaplan’s West
Side center, and once called “the most well-known prototype of the synagogue center.” According to ‘
contemporary press accounts (most likely based on material supplied by the architect}, the “fagade of this

~ structure has been designed in a severe garly Ttalian Renaissance style.” 2 Abramson also des1crned the Flatbush -
-Jewish Centei (1921) and may also have desz gned the East MldWOOd Jewish Center ' :

In 1925, when the Astoria Center of Is1 ael was being planned as a Jewish Center, ' Abramson was the logical
choice to be its architect. Like Abramson’s first three Jewish Center commissions (the YWHA, Kaplan's Jewish
Center, and the Brooklyn Jewish Center), the Astoria Center is Neo-Renaissance in its design, with the addition
of Jewish symbols. As described in an article in The Américan Jewish Yearbook for 5687 (1926- 192’7) the Neo-

: Renzussance was a COMmInon style for synagogues des:tgned during this penod

Many exotic styles of archltecture have been employed in the attempt to achieve 2 chstmctwe type,
— among them the Moorish, the Assyrlan and the Egyptian, but these fortunately have generally

" been abandoned when they were found to be inelastic and unsuited to dissimilar climatic -
conditions and to different building materials. In going over the field of recent endeavor, it would
seem that the styles selected by architects have narrowed down to only two — a free interpretation
of the classic, or some form of the Byzantme

The Astoria Center’s buﬂdmg was a two- story facade of brick w1th cast-stone trim. It was sy‘mmetncaﬂy
composed of five bays defined by double-height Ionic piers suppoiting anentablature and topped by a-
balustrade. Tts round-arched entrance was topped with a cartouche (a classical detail) within which was
. inscribed the Jewish symbol of the'magen david. Round- arched windows in each bay at the first story had

- Jeaded-glass sash, each with a magen david in the center of its upper sash. Inside, a small chapel had an
imitation beamed ceiling and a pilastered ark with a broken pediment within which was set a representation of

. the two Tablets of the Law. Renaissance-inspired details in the main sanctuary included double-height round-

arched windows set between fluted pilasters. The imitation marble ark of piers supported an architrave topped

3 Shul with a Pool, p. 80. “In his journal entry for August 1914, Mordeeai Kaplan lauded two female acquaintances: ‘for their

. painstaking efforts in helping to erect such a useful and wonderful edlﬁce

40 Shil with a Pool, p.80.
1 Shul with a Pool, p.249.
42 «Jewish Social Centie,” New York Times, March 10, 1918 P RE12 : o
3 Listed in the National Register. The NR nomination cites the Flatbush Jewish Center as Abramson s cles1gn and-makes the
attribution of the Bast Midwood Center based on Abramson’s experience with Jewish Centers in general and the Center’s similarity to -
the Brookiyn Jewish Center, The nomination notes: “The one piece of written evidence regarding Louis Allen Abramson's role in East
Midwood-is a staternent in the Twentieth Anniversary of the Jewish Communal Center of Flatbush, 191 G-1936 Souvenu Journal that
Abramscn drew the plans. for Bast Midwood.”

-4 william G. Tachau, “The Architécture of the Synagogue,” American Jewash Year book 5687 [1926-27], pp. 191-2.
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by an elaborate broken pediment with (like the small ark in the ohapel) a representation of the Tﬂb]ets of the
 Law. Since it was built with the Orthodox congregation of neighboring Mishkan Israel in mind, the sanctuary .
“included a women’s balcony at the rear. In keeping with its function as a Center, the building included a social

hall in the basement and classrooms in the second story..

: Murals by Louis ngal and Meialwork by Oscar Bach

One of the most unusual fcatules of the symgogue was an early series of dec01 atwe murals commxssmned i,
1929 from French artist Louis Pierre Rigal (1889-1985), not criginally part of Abramson’s plan. Rigal studied at
the Ecole des Beaux Arts in Paris where in 1919 he won the prestigious Prix de Rome, which sent him to Rome
to study painting for three. years. In 1925 he exhibited at the Exposition Inter nationale des Arts Décoratifs et
Industriels Modernes, the famed exposition that eventually gave rise to the name “Art Decg.” Rigal won several
 prestigious commissions at U.S. hotels, including the Palmer House in Chicage and the ‘Waldorf-Astoria in New
- Vork.® At the Waldorf-Astoria, he painted murals on classical themes in the main foyer in 1931: “The guest
who enters by the Park Avenue foyer may see, high on the gray stone walls of this interior, a senes of thirteen
paintings in soft colors by the French artist Louis Rigal. His classic scenes suggest hosp1ta11ty % Rigal retumned
~ to the Waldorf-Astoriain 1938 to design an enormous round rug, called the Wheel of Li er for the foyer 47 A
_ complex mosaic reproducing the Wheel of sze was mstalled in the foyer ﬂoor in 1939. _

_R1cral also exh1b1tcd in New York gallenes As chmactenzed in a review of one of his shows

Rigal is & Pans1an decorator, one- -time Prix de Rome and winner of a Grand Prix at the
- Exposition des Arts Decoratifs, who, since his arrival in the United States has been honored with -
such important commissions as murals for the Telephone Building, the ceiling of Aeolian, and,
some of the walls in the. new Waldorf- Astoria. He belongs, more or less, to that “International™
group which comprises Konijnenburg, Kn opff Klimt and a number of other painters throughout .
Europe. The colour is light and brilliant, and the stylization of figures extreme; long limbs,
. Leonardesque faces with slanting eyes and enigmatic smiles. Rigal is Lmdoubtcdly a competent
craftsman and a skilled decorator, we should like to see him try his hand at ¢ ‘comumercial-art.” His
- style has something in common with Both Erte” and Dupas.* :

Rigal’s work at the Astoria Center consisted of murals applied to the foyer’s ceiling, the sanctuary’s ceiling, the
front of the balcony, and the wallis flanking and behind the ark. Figurative painting in synagogues was relatively
rare because a common reading of the second of the Ten Commandments suggests that it forbids such
.representdtion. Figurative painting in'synagogues,; however, existed at léast since the third century of the
common era when the synagogue of Du1a Eulopos (in what today 18 Syua) was adorned with elaborate plctonal

® Mary Lackritz Gray, A Guide to Chicago's Murals {(University Of Chicago Press, 2001).
. 40 er1aee] Decoration in the Grand Manner,” New York Times, September 27, 1931, p. SM8.
R “I-Iuge Carpet Finished,” New York Times, April 9, 1938, p. 19. :
© * “Mosaic Depicts Life,” New York Tines, May 14, 1939, p. 156.
# «Cyrrent Exhibitions of Interest,” Parnassus (published by the College Art Assocmuon), Val. 2 No. 4 (Apr,, 1930), pp. 3- '."

3
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representations of biblical stories.”” Late medieval Eastern European examples of figural representdtions.
included murals in the Tsaac synagogue in the Kazimierz section of Krakow (1640) showing animals and views
of Hebron, Jerusalem and Machpelah. Many synagogues in Bastern Europe had similar decoration. Figurative
decoration also found its way into German synag 5gues of the eighteenth century, though these tended to avoid
“human Figures and focus on floral and animal life.”" Still, such examples represented a decided mmomy in

Euiope and similarly in the American synagogues of European Jewish immigrants. This mnde the murals at the:

- Astoria Centel unusual as examples of pictorial 1eplesentat10n in an Amencan synagogue
As described in the synagogue’s newslettcr:
Decomrzons

The Synagogue and the lobby of the Center were decorated during the summer by Mr. Pierre

Louis Rigal [sic] of France. He was assisted by a number of capable artists. -We are sure that

the public will be interested in the artist and it is our pleasure to give out the Sfollowing

information. Mr: Rigal was born in Monipellier, France. He went to Paris to study art in 1912.

During the war he was an artillery officer in the F rench army and was wounded in Verdun and
: Monan‘zm ‘ '

fn 1919, Mr. Rzgal was awarded rhe Prix de Rome the most coveted | pnze in the world of art.
During the great. international exposition of Decorative Arts in Paris, Mr. Rigal was awarded the
Grand Prix des Arts Decoratifs. The French Govemmenr honored him in 1928 by makmg him a
Chevalier of z‘he Legzon of Honor ' :

Some of his important works include wood sculptures for the Lord Rothermere House, Paris; the
decoration of Palmer House, :Chicago; the boudoir for Phipps, Miami; ceiling panel of the .
* Aeolian Hall, New York; exhibition room of the Renault autos, New York; mural panels in the

lobby of the Lincoln Hotel and Chanin Building and numerous poriraits in Europe and America.

W

The decorations in the Synagogue have evoked the admiration of many architects and artists who
were surprised at the ingenuity of the designs, the coloy scheme and the expert use of Jewish
symbolism. Connoisseurs of decorative art were profuse in their compliments at the ability of the
artist to bring out in paint such a rich scheme in spzte of the absence of an architectural -
background. ‘

We may state without hesitation that there is no synagogue in Greater New York to rival ours .
from the point of view of artistic decoration. We are justly proud of the fact that the Centeris -~

leading older Américan Institutions in emulating the old world synagogue decorations.

The ne'wsletter also described the metalwork by Oscar BaCh:

50 For the entire question of representative art in the Jewish world from anLtqulty to- modem times, see Jewzsh Art: An Illus.tra.ted
" History, edited by Cecil Roth (McGraw-Hill, 1961).-
! See Carol Herscl]c Krinsky, Synagogues of Europe (MIT Press, 1985) PP- 56 {f.
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The chandeliers were specially deszgned and executed by the Oscar Bach S, mclzos of New York.
Mpr. Oscar B.-Bach, one of the greatest craftsmen in metal in America designed them pers onally
in honm of Mr. Rigal whose work he holds in great esteem. '

The glass panels in the main doors leading to rhe Synagogue were deszgnec] by Mr. Rtgal and
executed by the Eno Art Co. of New York.

The work was under the constant supervision of the Chairman of the House Committee, Mr.

. Jacob Klein, who gave unstintingly of his time throughout the swmmer. He was at all times
assisted by Mr. Isidore Weisberg. Both deserve the thanks, not only of the members but also of
all who come within the portals of the Center to enjoy the beautiful atmosphere creaied by the

'unrwalled artistic decoration.”

Rigal’s. work in the foyer was the ceﬂmg painting, an elaborate symmetrical design based on curving stylized
floral patterns In the sanctuary, his work was done.in four locations: on the ceiling, on the front wall around
the arched opening beyond which sat the ark, in the bands outlining the tnple arched frames of the windows -
behind the ark and on the front of the balcony. The theme of the paintings was suggested to Rigal by Rabbi -

‘Goldberg, who chose one hiblical source and one Talmudic source: 1) the dove and the olive branch from the

Noah story in Genesis, and 2) a-well-known aphorism from the Talmudic tractate Pirkei Avot (“Chapters of the

Fathers™), a collection of sayings and moral instroction from the early rabbis: “Be bold as a leopard light as an’ .

cagle, swift as a deer, and strong & Tion, to carry out the wﬂl of your Father in Heaven. n33

On the front wall around the arched opening, the left side (facmg the wall) depicted a lion and a deer rearing up

on their hind legs facing each other, while the right side depicted a leopard and an eagle in a similar position.

‘Below either set of figures was a painted base with olive clusters and branches surrounding a stylized magen

david. Above either set of figures, a stylized pattern of branches and olives rose on either side to meet at the

. apex of the arch in the figure of a dove. On the band framing the triple-arched windows behind the ark, the

paintings were simply decorative forms. The paintings on the front of the balcony combined stylized clive .
clusters and branches with a central]y placed menorah. The ceiling was divided into.fifteen enormous square

: panels, in which several different murals repeated, Some were plain with a border of geometric patterns and

cutlicues. A similar pattern decorated & band that ran along the rear walls just where it met the ceiling while
others had elaborate symmetrical patterns based on floral forms and still others repeated the paired figures of |
hon/deer and leopard/eagle forming an “X” w1th interstices filled with olive branches. / :

The sanc:tu'uy s central chandelier by Oscar Bach was an elaborate ornamental des1gn mcludmg ﬂoral
patterns. The chandeliers by Oscar Bach represented the work of, in the words of the journal Iron Age,

: “plobably the foremost metal craftsman of this country.” 54 Born and trained in Germany, Oscar Bach (1884~

1957) came to the United States in 1912, leaving behind a major European practice that included an

- ornamental metal Bible cover encrusted with jewels for the study of Pope Leo XII. Several writers in the

1920s described Bach as a Renaissance “ar tist-artisan...a man who was in turn painter, sculptor, engrave1

2 The Astoria Cer':rar'oﬁsmel Weekly, Octaber 25, 1929, Vol. IV, No. 6, p. 3.
33 75" Anniversary Journal.
HTW. LI]J]JGI“[ “Colored Stainless Steel,” The Iron Age Agpril 6 1939, p 39.




" United Staies Department of the Interior ' ‘ . . OMB No. 1024-0018; NPS Form
National Park Service T ‘ . ‘ . : .
3 Astoria Center of lsrael

. to - o Queens County, New York
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES . o
CONTINUATION SHEET .

 Section number 8 Page 12

designer, craftsman.” One writer, Matlack Price, wrote, “In Ren'ussance Ttaly they would have called him

5
maesrro »3

‘Bach made the introduction of color into metal ornament somethmg of a personal tr ademalk Dulmg the 1920s,
" he introduced color into his metal ornament by adding copper, silver or gold relief, bronze highlights and
sometimes even colored enamel. In the 1930s, he developed the Bachite method for infusing steel with color.
Bach also did work in New York City in the Empire State Building and the Department of Health headquarters
- at 125 Worth Street. He also demgned the elaborate multi-color metal doors for the ark of the new synagogue

bmlt on the Upper West Side for Rodeph Sholom : .

N Concluswn

Many of the original members and founders of the Astoria Center of Israel were Jew1sh immi grants f1o:rn
Eastern Burope who had become well-established in their new country. Isaac Baer, the Center’s first president,
led the planning of the Center after Weisberg’s death. Baer immigrated to New York from Romania in the -
'1880s and become a successful builder, making him a logical choice to shepherd the Astoria Center building

. project:

TIsaac Baer is a builder by character and inclination. An immigrant, artiving in America some
forty years ago from Roumiania, he becomes the chief instrument in the creation of a Jewish
Center for the spreading of Jewish ideals in the new couniry. Thus a Jew answers the disgrace of
his Fatherland [a reference to anti-Semitic restrictions and attacks in laté nineteenth-century .
Romania]... He is a self-made man in the true meaning of . the word. During the past ten years,

" he has béen active in the building industry, and, together with his associates, has constructed
many large apartment houses, loft buildings, and hotels.... As the president of the Weisberg-Baer
.Company of Astoria, one of the largest woodworking plants in the city, he employs some three
hundred men, many of them residents of Astoria and members of the Center . In Fébruary of -
this year, he was made the Honorary President for life of the' congregation. ..

Another eatly premdent of the Center, Gustave Steiner, was born in Bohemia (present- day Czech Repubhc)

© Tacob Klein, one of the Center’s founders, was born in Austria. He ran the . Klein Iron Works, Inc. in Long
Istand City. 5 Other early members, howeve1 were born in New Yo1l( D1 David Eisenbér g. 2 president of the
~ Center, was a Long Istand City doctor™, as qu Dr. Jacob N Feinber g A synagogue trustee, David Kusnetz =
was a New York State Supreme Courc l ustice.” .

3 M'ltlack Price, Design and Ci aﬁ‘wrmmth in Mem!s the Creative Art of Oscar Bach (1928} p.2.
36 «The Metal Work in the Temple Rodeph Shalom,” Metal Arés (April 19300, v. 3, p. 152-154,
*7 Astoria Center of Ismel First Anniversary booklet. -
%8 Obitwary, New York Times, April 10,1932, p. N5.
¥ Obituary, New York Times, October 7, 1943, p. 23.
8 Obituary, New York Times, September 20, 1950, p.31,
,6' Obituary, New.York Times, February 11, 1943, p. 19
% Obitiary, New York Times, June 29, 1949, p.29.
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- The congregation’s first and long-tifne rabbi, Rabbi Joshua Goldberg, was born in Belm us, and immigrated to
the U.S. during World War I, at which time he joined the U.S. Army and ser ved in Europe. After the War,
Goldberg studied at the J ewish Institute-of Religion and became the Astoria Center’s rabbi in 1926. R"Lbbl

" Goldberg retained his association with the U.S. military, and in 1942 took a leave of absence from the Center to
become the country’s first rabbi to be commissioned as a Navy chaplain. In 1951 he became the first rabbi io be
named chapiain of an entire Navy district, attzumnfr the rank of captain in the Third Naval District. By then he
had become “rabbi emeritus” of the Center.”® Devotion to public service marked the career of a later Center

" rabbi as well: Rabbi Alvin Kass had been an Air Force chaplain before taking the pulpit at the Center; he .

. became a reserve chaplam on-assuming his new duties, and in 1966 also became a chaplam of the 01ty s Police

: Dep'u‘tmem

The Jewish population of Queens has grown enormouslty since the early part of the rwentieth century, but
during the past several decades the Jewish population-of Astoria has declined. While there were once half-a-.
dozen synagogues in the neighborhood, many have disappeared, including Congregatlon Beth Jacob at 22-51
29" Street, Congregation Beth-El of Astoria, Congregation Adath Israel at 36-02 14™ Street, and '
Congregation B’nai Israel at 45-11 21° Street, as well as Congregation Mishkan Israel, the Astoria Center’s
former neighbor. Local Jewish residents recall Astoria as once having a thriving Jewish commumty, with
kosher bakeries and butcher shops on 30" Avenue and Steinway Street, now largely vamshed

 Nevertheless, the Astona Center of Israel remains a vibrant congregatmn A profﬂe in the New York Da;iy
News pubhshed in 2007, the congregation counted 100 members and offered the followmg bullet-list:*

Most prized possession: The murals in our sanctuary by award- winning artist Louis Pierre Rigal,
who was inspired by the writings of the Pirkei Avot (Ethics of The Fathers)....
Biggest wish-list item: As the Astoria populace is growing, we hope that it will bring new people
. in our midst so we can continue to maintain the level of Jewish life and communal service of
those who came before us.. ‘ _ - -
_ Proudest moment: Reaching 80 years and celebrating the mﬂestones in our congregants lives..
"~ Most memorable wedding or other service: High Holy Day services, which are enhanced by a
. professmnal choir led and arranged by COMpOser Steven Mayers and onr cantor, Ge01 oe
" Lindenblatt.. o ‘
Most dedicated volunteer: Each and every one of our volunteers are dedicated to the well- bemg
of the temple :

© ®“Blavated to Chaplain of Th1rd Na\ml District,”” New Ymk szes, August 6, 1949 p-&; obatuary, New York szes, December 26,
1994, p. 46.

5 Kass obituary, New York sze.s, December 17, 1966, p.27.

%5 Teff Gottlieh, President of the Queens Jewish Historical Society, who supplied the list of synagogues cited above, interviewed twc
long-time Astoria résidents. Esther Fisher (interviewed March 3rd 2002), a resident in the Queensview Houses, had lived in Astoria
since age 14; she recalled the Jewish-owned business on Steinway Street, 30" Avenue and Broadway, and how crowded the many
synagogues were on the High Holy Days. Martin Weinstein (interviewed September 18, 2003) lived at 29-06 Crescent Street and.

" joined Mishkan Israel in 1956. He also recalled the kosher bakeries and butchers of the neighborbood.

96 “Raith In The City, Visiting Our Communities Of Belief. Astoria Center Of Israel,” New York Daily News, October 21, 2007, p. 37
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" High-profile congregants past and present: Too many to narrow down to just one...

Biggest issue: Getting landmark status...

The Astoria Center of Israel refle¢ts the history of Jews in Queens in the twentieth century including the
history of the Jewish Center movement and now also the history of Queens J ews at the beginning of the = -
twenty-first century. Its handsome neo-Renaissance design by Louis Allen Abrarmson and its unusual murals
by Louis Rigal, make it an important architectural and artistic resource. The Astoria Center remains a vital
part-of the living hlstmy of its net ghbolhood and of its 01ty, and is intent on being part of the nelghborhoods

foture, S
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Repreeenfaﬁve black and white photographs of the property.
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VERBAL BOUNDARY D]:SCRIPTION
The Astoria Center of Israel property is a rectangulat shaped lot of 7500 square feet néar on the east side of

" Crescent Street nearly opposite the 20" Avenue cross street as illustrated on the attached map. The lot is
desxgnated at Block 572, Lot 42 in the Bo1ough of Queens.

- BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION

- Property bouﬂdai‘y is'the same as during the period of significance.
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:Des<31 iption (seCUOn 7, St'ltement of Slgmﬁcmce (Sechon 8, Blbhogmphy plepaued by:

) Anthony W. Robins
Thompson & Columbus, Inc. .
50 West 67" Street, Suite 1-F - ©
New York, New York 10023 ) '
Phone: 212-877-7637
- Fax:  212-877-9731
trob @pipeline.com’
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Astoria Center of I'srae‘l (Q_ueens) 27-35 Crescent Stfeet o
. : ' Astoria NY 11 102

Di glt'ﬂ Images taken by Anthony W. Robms  February 2009.

. Copies of images on disk are on flle in the offlces of the Flf:ld Ser v1ces Bmeau of the New York State Office of

- Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation, Peebles Is}and State Psnk Waterford, New York.

Photo #1: Main fag:ad,e of synagogue, view lookmg south fl'om Crescent St.
Photo #2: Detail view of entrance in _maiﬁ facade.

Photo #3: Iﬁteﬁor_viéw of ché.pe]. o

_ Photo #4: Dctail view of _chapel window.

- Photo #5: Interior view of foyer.

"Photo #6: Interior view of worsﬁip spa'ce, looking toward the Ark.

Photo #7:- ‘Interior view of worship space, looki_ngitow'ard balcoﬁy.

, Photo #8: Detail view of windows in worship space.

Photo #9; Detail ‘'view of ceiling in worship space.

Photo # 10: Mural decoration, worship space ceiling.
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